\$237014

SUPREME COURT

In the Supreme Court of the State of California FILED

SEP - 2 2016

In re		Frank A. McGuire Clerk	
ROY BUTLER (D-94869),	Case No	Deputy	
On Habeas Corpus.			

First Appellate District, Division Two, Case No. A139411

Alameda County Superior Court, Case No. 91694B The Honorable Larry J. Goodman, Judge

PETITION FOR REVIEW

ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Must the Board continue to calculate "base terms" for certain inmates under a 2013 settlement agreement, despite statutory changes eliminating the Board's authority and the base term's previous function, under the rationale that base terms might indicate the point at which a sentence becomes constitutionally disproportionate to an inmate's underlying crime?

INTRODUCTION

Before 2016, the Board of Parole Hearings performed two core functions: determining the parole suitability of inmates serving life sentences for certain serious crimes, and setting "base terms" identifying each such inmate's earliest possible release date. The Board's base termsetting function, the issue on which this dispute turns, served the legislative goal of term uniformity—other things being equal, inmates who commit similar crimes should serve similar sentences. In carrying out its two statutory functions, the Board's practice was to set a base term only after determining an inmate was suitable for parole, *i.e.*, that he no longer posed a current unreasonable risk of danger to public safety. This Court upheld this policy in *In re Dannenberg* (2005) 34 Cal.4th 1061. If an inmate found suitable for parole had already served the minimum sentence established by the base term, he was eligible for immediate release. If the inmate was

found suitable but had not yet served the base term, he was not eligible for release until he completed that term.

In 2013, Roy Butler petitioned the Court of Appeal for a writ of habeas corpus, alleging that the Board's policy of not setting his base term until it found him suitable for parole was causing him to serve a constitutionally disproportionate sentence for his participation in a 1988 murder. Although this Court in *Dannenberg* foreclosed that claim, the Board concluded that an inmate's rehabilitation might be fostered if he knew the earliest date he could be released if found suitable for parole. The Board eventually settled the case by agreeing to calculate base terms at inmates' initial parole hearings, or at the next hearing if the initial hearing had already occurred, and to promulgate regulations implementing the settlement's terms. The Court of Appeal approved the settlement's terms and embodied them in an injunctive order.

In 2016, as part of a sweeping overhaul of the State's criminal justice system, the Legislature revised the parole system's structure and eliminated the Board's term-setting authority. Under current law, life inmates are immediately released once they are found suitable for parole, as long as they have served a minimum sentence fixed by statute, not as determined by the Board's regulations. The Legislature's purpose for this new parole regime was twofold: to parole suitable inmates as soon as possible and to eliminate confusion previously caused by the Board's term-setting function.

In light of this systemic legislative reform, the Board moved to modify the Court of Appeal's stipulated settlement order to confirm that the Board no longer had authority, or a need, to calculate "base terms," which have no utility under the new law. In the order at issue here, the Court of Appeal denied that motion, reasoning that base terms set by the Board continued to have *constitutional* significance on the theory they "indicate

the point at which a sentence becomes constitutionally excessive." In the Court of Appeal's view, the Board should continue performing the idle act of setting base terms before it determines parole suitability "so that parole officials know at the time they decide whether to deny parole" whether denial might result in a constitutionally disproportionate term. The court went even further, suggesting that, in its view, a base term computed by the Board in effect defines the *maximum* sentence that a life inmate may constitutionally be required to serve—even if the Board also determines that, as a matter of public safety, the inmate is not suitable for parole.

Under the auspices of enforcing a settlement agreement, the Court of Appeal has radically elevated a base term's significance—from one of statutory sentence uniformity to one of a constitutional dimension. But a rote calculation by the Board under a regulatory matrix cannot supplant the role of the judiciary, which alone can invalidate sentences based on proportionality. The Court of Appeal's order not only reflects a fundamental misunderstanding of the base term's previous function, but also would require the Board to ignore the Legislature's recent revisions to the parole system. Compelling the Board to continue setting now-meaningless "base terms" would waste public resources, sow confusion, and undermine the Board's current parole suitability determination process. The order is also likely to be misused to argue that serving a sentence past one's base term is presumptively unconstitutional, which will set the stage for future litigation based on an unsupportable distortion of this Court's longstanding constitutional disproportionality jurisprudence.

Review should be granted to settle these important questions of law.

///

///

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. THE BOARD WAS REQUIRED TO SET TERMS UNDER FORMER PENAL CODE SECTION 3041 AND CALIFORNIA CODE OF REGULATIONS, TITLE 15.

The Legislature, until recently, required the Board to set a provisional "parole release date" for each life inmate, founded on "criteria" that would "provide uniform terms for offenses of similar gravity." (Former Pen. Code, § 3041, subd. (a).) The Board implemented this statutory directive by promulgating regulations requiring the calculation of a "base term," using a matrix that measured the gravity of the offense, adjusting for any aggravating or mitigating circumstances. (See *In re Dannenberg, supra*, 34 Cal.4th at p. 1078 [recognizing that Board promulgated base-term matrices "in response" to section 3041's "requirements" and that "base terms" were means to set minimum "confinement terms," which were intended to infuse uniformity into the sentencing scheme consistent with "sentencing rules that the Judicial Council" had issued], citing former Pen. Code, § 3041, subd. (a); see also Cal. Rules of Court, rule 4.405 [defining "base term" in reference to how a sentencing court selects a term of imprisonment for a determinate sentence].)

Dannenberg recognized that the Board adopted its base-term matrices to satisfy its statutory duty under section 3041 to set "uniform terms." (In re Dannenberg, supra, 34 Cal.4th at p. 1078.) Dannenberg also held that despite the desire for term uniformity, the Legislature required the Board to deny parole to any life inmate "who is still dangerous." (Id. at pp. 1087-1088.) Thus, a base term established an inmate's minimum—not maximum—period of imprisonment, assuming he was suitable for parole. (Id. at pp. 1078-1079.) In this way, the base term set by the Board established the inmate's earliest possible release date, but operated as the inmate's actual release date only if the inmate was found suitable for parole

before reaching that date. (*Id.* at pp. 1090-1091; see also *In re Bush* (2008) 161 Cal.App.4th 133, 142 [life inmate not legally entitled to release until he served his base term and been found suitable for parole].)

At the time Roy Butler petitioned the court below in 2013, it was the Board's policy to calculate an inmate's base term once he was found suitable for parole. (Cal. Code Regs., tit. 15, §§ 2282, 2403.) If the inmate was already past his base term, he was entitled to release once the parole grant became effective. (Id. at §§ 2289, 2411.) If not, the inmate remained in prison until he satisfied this minimum term, which could be further reduced during periodic progress hearings for good behavior. (Id. at § 2269.)

Concluding that section 3041's goal of term uniformity was subordinate to the overriding statutory goal of public safety (*In re Dannenberg, supra*, 34 Cal.4th at p. 1084), this Court upheld the Board's policy of delaying the setting of a base term until after finding the inmate suitable for parole (*id.* at p. 1098). This Court considered and rejected the contention that constitutional principles prohibiting disproportionate sentences mandated a different result. (*Ibid.* ["Implementation of the cruel or unusual punishment clause . . . does not require the Board, under [the prior parole] law to set premature release dates for current life-maximum prisoners who, it believes, present public safety risks."].) The Court's conclusion was consistent with the fact that the range of terms available under the Board's term-setting matrix—for instance, 25 to 33 years for first degree murder—does not plot the contours of the Eighth Amendment or the

The Board's decision is final within 120 days of the hearing, after which the Governor has 30 days to review the decision. (Pen. Code, § 3041, subd. (b)(1); Cal. Const. art. V, § 8, subd. (b).) If the Governor does not reverse, refer, or modify the Board's decision, the Board's parole grant becomes effective.

California Constitution's cruel-or-unusual punishment clause. (Cal. Code Regs., tit. 15, § 2403, subd. (b); see *In re Dannenberg*, *supra*, 34 Cal.4th at p. 1094, fn. 15 [Board "may amend the matrix" for second degree murder if it "believes the 15-to-21-year terms . . . are too brief to protect public safety"].) Instead, this Court instructed inmates who believed that a Board's parole denial was causing them to serve a sentence disproportionate to their crime to go straight to court—without the need for the Board to calculate a base term. (*In re Dannenberg*, *supra*, 34 Cal.4th at pp. 1096-1098.)

II. BUTLER PETITIONS THE COURT OF APPEAL FOR HABEAS CORPUS RELIEF, AND THE PARTIES REACH A STIPULATED SETTLEMENT.

Roy Butler petitioned the Court of Appeal for a writ of habeas corpus challenging the Board's policy of waiting until he was found suitable before setting his base term—the policy this Court upheld in *Dannenberg*. Butler alleged that the delay in setting his base term caused him to serve a constitutionally disproportionate sentence. Despite *Dannenberg* foreclosing Butler's claim, the Board decided that sound public policy reasons supported changing the timing of its statutory term-setting function—namely, that setting the base term earlier could aid an inmate's rehabilitation by fostering hope for future release and thus encouraging the inmate to behave in a pro-social manner while incarcerated. (Ex. 2, Stipulation and Order Regarding Settlement.) Importantly, the proposed change in no way altered the Board's underlying statutory duty to deny parole to those inmates whose release would pose an unreasonable risk of danger to the public.

The Court of Appeal entered an order approving the settlement.

Under the order, the Board was required to calculate base terms for life inmates at their initial parole consideration hearing, or at their next

scheduled parole hearing if the initial hearing already occurred. (Ex. 2, at p. 3.) The order also required the Board to promulgate regulations to implement the agreement. (*Ibid.*) Since the settlement order became operative in April 2014, the Board has calculated thousands of inmates' base terms per the settlement's terms. The Court of Appeal retains jurisdiction until the amended regulations become effective.² (*Id.* at p. 7.)

III. DEVELOPMENTS IN THE LAW MATERIALLY ALTER THE BOARD'S AUTHORITY TO SET BASE TERMS.

In 2014, the legal landscape underlying the Board's term-setting function changed in three material ways. First, under Senate Bill Nos. 260 and 261, the Legislature eliminated the Board's term-setting function for youthful offenders—those who were 23 or younger when they committed their crimes—by mandating their release once they are found suitable for parole. (See generally Pen. Code, §§ 3041, 3046, subd. (c), 3051, 4801, subd. (c), as amended by Stats. 2013, ch. 312, §§ 2-5; Pen. Code, §§ 3041, 3051, 4801, subd. (c), as amended by Stats. 2015, ch. 471, §§ 1-2.) In light of the legislative changes, base terms are not meaningful to youth offenders because they must be immediately released once they are found suitable for

²After the Court of Appeal entered the stipulated order, the California District Attorneys Association and the San Diego County and Sacramento County District Attorneys filed letters asking this Court to transfer the case to itself to allow them to present challenges to the settlement. (*In re Butler*, S217611, Apr. 7, 2014.) The Board opposed the transfer, arguing that, because the settlement did nothing more than change the timing of the base-term calculation, the underlying cause presented no issue of great public importance requiring this Court's intervention. The Court denied the requested transfer. For the reasons explained above, the circumstances have changed significantly since this transfer request. The Legislature has restructured the State's parole system, and the Court of Appeal's order rejecting modifications to the settlement both extends the settlement's purpose well beyond its original intent and misapprehends the meaning and significance of Board-established base terms.

parole and have served a minimum term as established by the Legislature. (*Ibid.*)

Second, in compliance with a February 10, 2014 federal court order, California implemented a parole measure that provides parole consideration to inmates who are over 60 years old and have served 25 continuous years of custody. (See *Plata v. Brown*, Case No. 01-1351 (N.D.Cal.), Docket No. 2766.) Like youthful offenders, a base term is not meaningful to inmates eligible for elderly parole because they too must be immediately released once they are found suitable for parole.

And third, beginning in January 2016, the Legislature, through Senate Bill No. 230 (SB 230), amended Penal Code section 3041, subdivision (a), to eliminate the Board's term-setting function for *all* life inmates. (Pen. Code, §§ 3041, *et seq.*, as amended by Stats. 2015, ch. 470, §§ 1-13.) Before SB 230, Penal Code section 3041 required the Board to set base terms "in a manner that will provide uniform terms for offenses of similar gravity and magnitude with respect to their threat to the public[.]" (Former Pen. Code, § 3041.) The Legislature struck this language and added subdivision (a)(4), requiring inmates to be released when found suitable for parole:

Upon a grant of parole, the inmate shall be released subject to all applicable review periods. However, an inmate shall not be released before reaching his or her minimum eligible parole date as set pursuant to Section 3046 unless the inmate is eligible for earlier release pursuant to his or her youth offender parole eligibility date.

(Pen. Code, § 3041, subd. (a)(4).) In so doing, the Legislature replaced the Board's term-setting function with a new parole regime in which life inmates are entitled to release once they are found suitable and have

reached their minimum eligible parole dates,³ which are set by statute based on their sentences.

IV. THE COURT DENIES THE BOARD'S MOTION TO MODIFY THE SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT.

In light of the fundamental changes to the State's parole system, the Board moved to modify the settlement agreement's terms. Because the law undergirding the injunctive order had materially changed, the Board sought modifications to harmonize the order's terms with the new parole scheme. (See Code Civ. Proc., § 533; *Welsch v. Goswick* (1982) 130 Cal.App.3d 398, 404 [court has inherent power to modify or dissolve injunction when law upon which injunction was granted has changed or where circumstances and parties' situation have so changed as to render such action just and equitable].) Where the settlement agreement required the Board to calculate and inform inmates of their base-term calculation, the Board proposed to provide each inmate with his minimum eligible parole date in accordance with Penal Code section 3041, subdivision (a)(4).

The court denied the Board's motion. (Ex. 1.) The court rejected the Board's argument that legislative changes to Penal Code section 3041 and the State's parole system warranted modifications to the settlement agreement.⁴ (*Id.* at pp. 5-11.) The court concluded that "the Board's

³An inmate's initial parole consideration hearing is conducted one year before the inmate's minimum eligible parole date. (Pen. Code, §§ 3041, subd. (a)(2), 3046, subd. (a).) The minimum eligible parole date, set under Penal Code section 3046, establishes the earliest date an inmate can be released from prison, unless he qualifies for earlier release as a youthful or elderly offender. (Pen. Code, §§ 3041, subd. (a)(4); 3046, subd. (c); *Plata v. Brown*, Case No. 01-1351 (N.D.Cal.), Docket No. 2766.)

⁴The Court of Appeal's order also noted that the Board stopped setting base terms for youthful and elderly offenders, in light of changes to the parole system mandated by Senate Bill Nos. 260 and 261, and a federal court order—changes in the law that predated the effective date of the (continued...)

authority to set base terms does not derive from section 3041" (id. at p. 6). but rather from the stipulated order itself, which, in the court's view, facilitated enforcement of the constitutional safeguard against excessive sentences (id. at p. 10). According to the court, a base term has "never been considered the minimum term" an inmate must serve, but instead functions "to indicate the point at which a prison term becomes constitutionally excessive." (Id. at p. 6; see also id. at p. 7 [base term does not set a release date but "indicate[s] whether the denial of parole might result in constitutionally excessive punishment"].) Thus, the court concluded that base-term calculations must continue both to facilitate judicial review of constitutional disproportionality challenges (id. at pp. 8-9; see also In re Butler (2015) 236 Cal. App. 4th 1222, 1242-1243), and to ensure the Board knows "whether the denial of parole might result in constitutionally excessive punishment." (Ex. 1, at p. 7; see also id. at p. 8 ["the decision whether to deny or grant parole should not be made without a prior Board inquiry whether the denial of parole might result in a constitutionally excessive sentence . . .].)⁵

REASONS FOR GRANTING REVIEW

Review should be granted for three reasons. First, in light of the material changes in the law, the order will create dueling regulatory schemes, one that is relevant to the inmate's actual release date and one that is not. It will also waste resources by requiring the Board to set "base

^{(...}continued)

order. (Ex. 1, at pp. 9-11.) Since then, Butler's counsel filed a declaration charging the Board with contempt of the stipulated order. The Court of Appeal has set a status conference for September 21, 2016, to discuss with the parties matters regarding the stipulated order.

⁵No petition for rehearing was filed in the Court of Appeal. (Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.504(b)(3).)

terms" that have no legal significance, and create unnecessary confusion. Second, the order undermines public safety by injecting uncertainty into the parole suitability process by requiring the Board to consider whether a parole denial might violate the constitution's ban on disproportionate sentences. And third, the order misinterprets this Court's disproportionality jurisprudence by converting base terms into constitutional precepts. Review should be granted to settle these important questions of law.

I. BY FAILING TO HARMONIZE THE SETTLEMENT'S TERMS WITH THE LEGISLATURE'S NEW PAROLE SCHEME, THE COURT'S ORDER PLACES THE BOARD IN AN UNTENABLE POSITION AND UNNECESSARILY INTRODUCES CONFUSION INTO THE PAROLE PROCESS.

The Court of Appeal's refusal to modify the stipulated order in light of the Legislature's recent overhaul of California's parole system warrants review by this Court because it would require the Board to act in ways inconsistent with the new statutory framework, waste resources by requiring the continued setting of "base terms" that have no legal significance, and create unnecessary confusion.

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