No. S237014 (Court of Appeal No. A139411) (Alameda County Superior Court No. 91694B) SUPREME COURT
FILED

SEP 3 0 2016

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

IN THE SUPREME COURT — OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

IN RE ROY BUTLER, ON HABEAS CORPUS,

After a Decision By the Court of Appeal First Appellate District, Division Two Appeal No. A139411

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW BY THE CALIFORNIA BOARD OF PAROLE HEARINGS

Keker & Van Nest LLP
SHARIF E. JACOB - #257546
Email: sjacob@kvn.com
ANDREA NILL SANCHEZ - #308477
Email: anillsanchez@kvn.com
633 Battery Street
San Francisco, CA 94111-1809
Telephone: 415 391 5400
Facsimile: 415 397 7188

Attorneys for Petitioner and Non-Movant ROY BUTLER

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

Welfare Rights v. Frank
25 Cal. App. 4th 415 (Cal. App. 1st Dist. 1994)6
State Statutes
15 Cal. Admin. Code §§ 2000-2725 (1976)
2013 Cal. Legis. Serv. Ch. 312
2015 Cal. Legis. Serv. Ch. 470
2015 Cal. Legis. Serv. Ch. 471
Cal. Civ. Proc. Code § 533
Cal. Civ. Proc. Code § 1021.510
Cal. Penal Code §§ 1170 et seq
Cal. Penal Code § 3046(c)8
Cal. Penal Code § 3041
Cal. Penal Code § 3051
State Rules
California Rule of Court 8.500(a)(2)1
California Rule of Court 8.500(b)4
Court Orders
Cal. Supreme Ct. Order, No. S217611, Jul. 30, 2014
Cal. Supreme Ct. Order, No. S227750, Oct. 28, 2015
Constitutional Provisions
Cal. Const., art. I, § 7(a)6
U.S. Const., amend. XIV, § 16
Other Authorities
Jon B. Eisenberg, Ellis J. Horvitz & Justice Howard B. Wiener, <i>Cal. Prac. Guide Civ. App. & Writs</i> § 13-1 (2015)

I. INTRODUCTION

Pursuant to California Rule of Court 8.500(a)(2), and the September 14, 2016 request of the Clerk of the Supreme Court, Roy Butler respectfully files this answer brief opposing the petition for review filed by the California Board of Parole Hearings ("Board"). The Board's petition fails to present any grounds meriting this Court's review.

Before the Court of Appeal, the Board sought to modify a Settlement Order to which it stipulated over two years ago. Having admitted that it stopped complying with the Settlement Order long before seeking modification, the Board seeks to cut out the heart of the settlement—its requirement to calculate a base term for all life-term inmates in California. The parties agree on the legal standard that governs the Board's motion: it is not entitled to modification unless it can show that that law upon which the Settlement Order was based on has changed in a way that conflicts with the relief required by the Order. See Cal. Civ. Proc. Code § 533. The law upon which the Settlement Order was based is the California Constitution, and nothing in the Constitution has changed since the Order was entered. The Board admitted at oral argument before the Court of Appeal "that nothing it is required to do by the stipulated order is prohibited by SB 230, SB 260, or the Coleman Order." See Cal. Ct. of Appeal Order Denying

Resp't's Mot. to Modify at 4, Jul. 27, 2016 ("Mot. to Modify Order"). Therefore, the Board's petition is meritless and should be denied.

II. FACTS AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY

On December 10, 2012, Petitioner Roy Butler filed a pro per Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus in the Court of Appeal, First Appellate District. *See* Pet. for Writ of Habeas Corpus, Dec. 10, 2012. The Court of Appeal bifurcated his supplemental petition into two separate cases, recognizing that it raised two distinct types of claims—one focused on the sufficiency of the evidence of Mr. Butler's individual case, and the other asserting a broader constitutional challenge to the Board's base term-setting policy. ¹ The petition relates to the latter.

After Mr. Butler was appointed counsel, the parties participated in three settlement conferences before Justice Jim Humes starting on November 20, 2013. The Executive Officer of the Board and the General Counsel participated in each settlement conference, represented by the Attorney General. *See* Stip. and Order Regarding Settlement at 1, Dec. 16, 2013 ("Settlement Order"). At the final settlement conference on December 13, 2013, the parties signed a settlement agreement stipulating to the terms of a Proposed Order to resolve Mr. Butler's base term claim.

¹ Mr. Butler's individual claim remained the subject of case number A137273, while the base term claim was assigned to case number A139411.

On December 16, 2013, the Court of Appeal entered the stipulated Settlement Order requiring the Board to set base terms and adjusted base terms for life prisoners at their initial parole hearing, or at the next scheduled hearing. See Settlement Order ¶¶ 3-4. The Settlement Order also directs the Board to amend its regulations to reflect the new policies and procedures set forth in the Settlement Order "as soon as reasonably practicable." Id. ¶¶ 5, 7. The Court of Appeal retains jurisdiction over this case until those amended regulations become effective. Id. ¶ 8.

Although they were not parties to the litigation, the District

Attorneys of San Diego and Sacramento Counties challenged the

Settlement Order, asking the Supreme Court to transfer the instant action to
itself in April 2014. Both Mr. Butler and the Board opposed the request to
transfer. The Court denied the applications on July 30, 2014. See Cal.

Supreme Ct. Order, No. S217611, Jul. 30, 2014.

On May 15, 2015, the Court of Appeal granted Mr. Butler's request for attorneys' fees. *See In re Butler*, 236 Cal. App. 4th 1222, 1244 (2015). The District Attorney of San Diego County submitted a request in July 2015, asking the Supreme Court to either grant review or depublish the attorneys' fees opinion. Mr. Butler opposed the request. The Board neither submitted a response nor independently sought review of the decision. This Court denied review and depublication on October 28, 2015. *See* Cal. Supreme Ct. Order, No. S227750, Oct. 28, 2015.

For two years, the Board did not challenge the Court of Appeal's decisions—despite the passage of S.B. 260 in 2013, the entry of the *Coleman v. Brown* order in early 2014, and the enactment of S.B. 261 and 230 one year later. *See Youth Offender Parole Hearings*, 2013 Cal. Legis. Serv. Ch. 312 (S.B. 260) (codified at Cal. Penal Code, § 3051); *Sentencing: Parole*, 2015 Cal. Legis. Serv. Ch. 471 (S.B. 261) (codified at Cal. Penal Code § 3051); *Sentencing: Parole*, 2015 Cal. Legis. Serv. Ch. 470 (S.B. 230); *see also* Case No. 3:01-cv-01351-THE, Dkt. No. 2766 (N.D.C.A) ("*Coleman* Order"). It was not until January 28, 2016, that the Board filed a motion to modify the Settlement Order. The Court of Appeal denied the Board's motion to modify on July 27, 2016. *See* Mot. to Modify Order.

III. ARGUMENT

"[R]eview by this [C]ourt—to secure uniformity of decision or resolve important questions of law—[is] purely discretionary." *Snukal v. Flightways Manufacturing, Inc.*, 23 Cal. 4th 754, 770 (2000). "There is no abstract or inherent right in every citizen to take every case to the highest court." *People v. Davis*, 147 Cal. 346, 349 (1905). "The [S]upreme [C]ourt's focus is not on correction of error by the court of appeal in a specific case." Jon B. Eisenberg, Ellis J. Horvitz & Justice Howard B. Wiener, *Cal. Prac. Guide Civ. App. & Writs* § 13-1 (2015).

California Rule of Court 8.500(b) sets forth the grounds for review:

- 1. When necessary to secure uniformity of decision or to settle an important question of law;
- 2. When the Court of Appeal lacked jurisdiction;
- 3. When the Court of Appeal decision lacked the concurrence of sufficient qualified justices; or
- 4. For the purpose of transferring the matter to the Court of Appeal for such proceedings as the Supreme Court may order.

Grounds two through four do not apply, and the Board does not contend otherwise. Nor has the Board identified a split in the rulings of the Court of Appeal. So the Board is left to argue that granting its petition will settle an important question of law. But the Board's motion to modify the Settlement Order did not present the issue of law upon which the Board now seeks a ruling.

A. The Board's petition does not properly present the legal issue it seeks to have determined.

The Board's petition for review mounts constitutional and policy attacks on a Settlement Order to which it stipulated over two years ago. The Board argues that the base term has no constitutional significance. Pet. for Review at 15-18, No. S237014, Sept. 2, 2016. The Board further contends that the relief to which it agreed is "contrary" to this Court's holding in *In re Dannenberg*, 34 Cal. 4th 1061 (2005). *Id.* at 13-15. None of those issues are properly presented by the Board's petition.

The Board is petitioning for review of a decision denying its motion to modify. Despite that fact, the Board devotes no more than a single sentence in the background section to the legal standard that applies to the motion, a standard on which the parties agreed below. Pet. for Review at 9. The Board's motion to modify is governed by California Code of Civil Procedure § 533. Section 533 describes a two-step process to guide the Court in ruling on a motion to modify. *First*, the Court must determine "the law upon which the [settlement order] . . . was granted." *Id. Second*, once determined, the Court asks whether that law has changed. *Id.*

The authorities the Board cited to the Court below—but omitted from its petition—explain that the Court should determine "the law upon which the [settlement order] was granted" by looking to the complaint. See System Federation No. 91 Railway Employees' Dep't v. Wright, 364 U.S. 642, 643 (1961); Welfare Rights v. Frank, 25 Cal. App. 4th 415, 417 (Cal. App. 1st Dist. 1994). Mr. Butler's action is not founded on a complaint, but is instead a habeas proceeding founded upon a petition. Accordingly, Mr. Butler's causes of action are set forth in his supplemental petition for habeas corpus, starting on page 55. See Supp. Pet. for Writ of Habeas Corpus and Supp'g Mem. of Points and Authorities, May 28, 2013. His claims, as set forth in his petition, sought to vindicate the constitutional rights of inmates under the state and federal due process clause, Cal. Const., art. I, § 7(a); U.S. Const., amend. XIV, § 1, and the proscription against

cruel and/or unusual punishment set forth in the Eighth Amendment and Article 1, Section 17 of the California Constitution. Nothing in the Federal and California Constitutions has changed since the Board stipulated to the Settlement Order. That is the only question presented by the Board's petition. The parties agree on the answer and the Court correctly ruled on the motion below.

The Board wishes to argue that Mr. Butler could not have achieved the same relief he obtained in the Settlement Order had he fully litigated his action. In other words, the Board—after stipulating to the Settlement Order and claiming to have partially complied with its provisions—now wishes to argue that the constitutional claim upon which Mr. Butler obtained the settlement lacks merit. It is simply too late for that. See Rufo v. Inmates of Suffolk Cty. Jail, 502 U.S. 367, 389 (1992) (ruling that a clarification in the law does not "automatically open[] the door for relitigation of the merits of every affected consent decree[,]" as that "would undermine the finality of such agreements and could serve as a disincentive to negotiation of settlements in institutional reform litigation.").

B. The Board's argument that the legislature has not guaranteed the same relief the Board stipulated to in the Settlement Order is irrelevant, and, in any event, meritless.

Mr. Butler's claims were never rooted in the statutory scheme set forth in Cal. Penal Code § 3041. He did not seek to vindicate a statutory right; therefore amendments purporting to change any such statutory rights

are irrelevant. Regardless, there is no conflict between the statutory scheme as amended and the Settlement Order. Indeed, the Board admitted at oral argument below that there is no express conflict between the S.B. 260, S.B. 230, the *Coleman* order, and the relief it agreed to provide. *See* Mot. to Modify Order at 4.

The youth offender bills do not prohibit the Board from calculating base terms. The stated purpose of S.B. 260 is to "create a process by which growth and maturity of youthful offenders can be assessed and a meaningful opportunity for release established." Youth offender parole hearings, 2013 Cal. Legis. Serv. Ch. 312 (S.B. 260). S.B. 260 accomplished this goal by modifying the parole process for inmates, *id.* (codified at § 3051(a)(1)), and imposing a new requirement that the Board release youth offenders found suitable for parole, even if they have not yet served their base terms. *See* Cal. Penal Code § 3046(c)). Nothing in the amendments prohibits the calculation of base terms.

Similarly, S.B. 230 amended the law to instruct the Board to release inmates upon a grant of parole. *See id.* § 3041(a)(4). The relevant aspects of both of these reforms are entirely concerned with the actions the Board must take once it determines an inmate is suitable for parole. Nothing in S.B. 230 prohibits the Board from calculating base terms.

Nor does the *Coleman* Order preclude the calculation of base terms.

Aimed at reducing California's prison population, the *Coleman* court

ordered the defendants to institute a "new parole process" for considering the suitability for parole of certain elderly inmates. *Coleman* Order at 1, 3. The order explicitly states that it "is narrowly tailored to the constitutional violations identified by the *Plata* and *Coleman* courts" and "extends no further than necessary to remedy those violations, and is the least intrusive possible remedy." *See id.* at 2. The phrase "base term" does not even appear in the Order. *See id.* at 3. "At oral argument on this motion the Board virtually conceded that nothing it is required to do by the stipulated order is prohibited by SB 230, SB 260, or the *Coleman* Order." Mot. to Modify Order at 4. Thus, the Court of Appeal correctly denied the motion to modify.

C. The Board's attempt to re-litigate the constitutional basis of the Settlement Order is not only procedurally improper, but also precluded by law of the case.

The Board previously passed on two opportunities to seek Supreme Court review. Despite now claiming that it lacks the authority to comply with the Settlement Order, the Board opposed a third-party request asking the Supreme Court to overturn the Settlement Order. In fact, the Board argued that "the Court of Appeal has held that comparable orders granting motions to enforce settlement . . . are final orders because they 'dispose[] of the litigation' and leave the court with 'nothing . . . to do other than enforce its order." *See* Resp't's Answer to Request for Transfer at 3, May 15, 2014 (quoting *Critzer v. Enos*, 187 Cal. App. 4th 1242, 1252 (2010)). Notably,

by that time, S.B. 260 was already in effect and the *Coleman v. Brown* order had been issued. This Court denied review. *See* Cal. Supreme Ct. Order, No. S217611, Jul. 30, 2014.

The Board also chose not to petition for review of the Court of Appeal's prior decision granting Butler's motion for attorneys' fees. Unlike the motion to modify, the motion for attorneys' fees squarely presented the issue of whether the Settlement Order resulted in the "enforcement of an important right affecting the public interest[.]" Cal. Civ. Proc. Code § 1021.5. Indeed, in order to determine that Mr. Butler's litigation enforced an important right, the Court of Appeal made the express determination that the Settlement Order vindicated the constitutional rights the Board now claims it does not. See In re Butler, 236 Cal. App. 4th 1222, 1230, 1233-1235 (2015) (explaining that the Board's arguments "ignore[] the role the base and adjusted base terms play in promoting proportionality, which is both constitutionally mandated and an express goal of the DSL"); see also Press v. Lucky Stores, Inc., 34 Cal. 3d 311, 318 (1983) (holding that litigation that vindicates rights "of constitutional stature" satisfy the public interest element of Cal. Civ. Proc. Code § 1021.5) (quoting Serrano v. Priest, 20 Cal. 3d 25, 46 n.18 (1977)). The Board never sought

reconsideration, Supreme Court review, or even depublication of the Court of Appeal's opinion.²

The Board's failure to appeal from the Court of Appeal Order granting attorneys' fees precludes its challenge to the constitutional significance of the Settlement Order under the law of the case doctrine. Generally, "the decision of an appellate court, stating a rule of law necessary to the decision of the case, conclusively establishes that rule and makes it determinative of the rights of the same parties in any subsequent retrial or appeal in the same case." Sargon Enterprises, Inc. v. Univ. of S. California, 215 Cal. App. 4th 1495, 1505 (2013) (internal quotation marks and citation omitted); see also Cal. Prac. Guide Civ. App. & Writs Ch. 14-D¶14:172. The law of the case doctrine binds the Supreme Court to the legal findings of a previous appeal before the Court of Appeal in the same case, even where the Supreme Court may conclude that the Court of Appeal opinion was erroneous. See People v. Stanley, 10 Cal. 4th 764, 786 (1995). Therefore, in addition to not being properly presented in its petition, the Board's previously-rejected arguments are settled by the law of the case.

² On October 28, 2015, the Supreme Court declined a third-party request to review or depublish the decision. *See* Cal. Supreme Ct. Order, No. S227750, Oct. 28, 2015.

D. The Board is barred from seeking review of the motion to modify decision under the disentitlement doctrine.

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